74015-6

FILED
Apr 29, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 74015-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRIAN ALEXANDER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Alexander's motion to instruct the jury on the lawful use of force in defense of property. RP (5/27/15) 121-23.
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting recordings of two 911 calls over Mr. Alexander's objections that the statements contained therein were hearsay and were cumulative of live testimony. CP 13, 20-23; RP (5/27/15) 4-5, 97.
- 3. The trial court abused its discretion in overruling Mr.

 Alexander's objections to statements of a police officer and detective regarding their opinions on the cause of the alleged victim's injuries. RP (5/26/15) 16-17, 82.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A defendant is entitled to have the court instruct the jury on his theory of the case if any evidence supporting it is presented. In this assault case, the alleged victim testified that as Mr. Alexander was driving she opened the passenger door and grabbed the steering wheel, that Mr. Alexander pulled her back and they wrestled, and that her actions otherwise could have caused the car to crash. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Alexander's request to instruct the jury on lawful use of force in defense of property?

- 2. The rule against hearsay prohibits admission of out-of-court statements offered for their truth, unless an exception applies. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting a recording of a 911 call from witness Annette Weis under the "present sense impression" and "excited utterance" exceptions, where Ms. Weis placed the call 10-15 minutes after the incident in question and calmly answered the operator's questions?
- 3. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in relying on these exceptions for the portions of witness Rebecca Kent's 911 call that dealt with alleged prior incidents, and the portions of the call in which calm dispatchers and first responders were speaking?
- 4. Under ER 403, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by considerations of needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting the 911 calls, where the callers testified at trial to the same alleged facts?
- 5. Did the trial court err in ruling that there was no hearsay concern simply because there was no Confrontation Clause violation?
- 6. Because defendants have a constitutional right to have the jury decide factual questions, witnesses may not express opinions as to the guilt of the defendant in criminal trials, either directly or by inference. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in overruling Mr. Alexander's objections to testimony by Officer Jennings and Detective Gill stating their opinions

that the alleged victim's injuries were consistent with assault rather than a car accident?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Brian Alexander and Kelly Colangelo dated on and off for several years. RP (5/26/15) 136-37. In August of 2014, the two were driving home from a party when Ms. Colangelo became upset because she was still grieving for her son who died two years earlier. RP (5/26/15) 140; RP (5/28/15) 22. Ms. Colangelo was highly intoxicated, with a blood alcohol level later determined to be .328. RP (5/27/15) 13.

Mr. Alexander was unsympathetic, and the two argued. RP (5/26/15) 138. According to Ms. Colangelo's testimony at trial, she was upset that Mr. Alexander was not being supportive, and she wanted to get out of the car notwithstanding the fact that it was moving. RP (5/26/15) 140-41. She had attempted suicide on multiple occasions, including jumping out of another moving car two weeks prior to this incident. RP (5/26/15) 180; RP (5/28/15) 21-23. This time, she unbuckled her belt, opened the passenger door, and grabbed the steering wheel. RP (5/26/15) 142-43. During the tussle, they hit a curb and Mr. Alexander applied the brakes. Ms. Colangelo's head hit the windshield. RP (5/26/15) 142-44.

Ms. Colangelo got out of the car a block from her apartment complex. RP (5/26/15) 144.

Annette Weis was walking in the area and saw Ms. Colangelo. RP (5/26/15) 121-22. Ms. Colangelo was stumbling and falling, and blood was coming out of her head. RP (5/26/15) 122. She told Ms. Weis that a man had beaten her and dropped her off, but that she did not want Ms. Weis to call for aid. *Id.* Ms. Weis walked Ms. Colangelo to her apartment complex, then walked back to her office and called 911. RP (5/26/15) 126-28.

Ms. Colangelo eventually went to the apartment of her friend and neighbor, Rebecca Kent. RP (5/27/15) 94. According to Ms. Kent, Ms. Colangelo "was clearly inebriated and she was bleeding." RP (5/27/15) 94. Ms. Colangelo told Ms. Kent that she and Mr. Alexander had gotten into a fight and that he "had slammed her face into the car panel, instrument panel, and thrown her out of the moving vehicle." RP (5/27/15) 96.

Ms. Kent called 911, and police officers and firefighters responded. RP (5/27/15) 24-34, 97. Ms. Colangelo told them that she "was accidentally punched in the face by her boyfriend." RP (5/26/15) 12. Ms. Colangelo was taken to the hospital, where she was given 2-3 sutures for a cut above her left eye. RP (5/27/15) 55-56. She also had bruising around

her right eye and on her neck. *Id.* A CT scan ruled out cranial injuries. RP (5/27/15) 55, 66.

A few days after the incident, Ms. Colangelo told Detective Daljit Gill that she "got punched in the face" that night in the car. RP (5/26/15) 162. The State charged Brian Alexander with second-degree assault. CP 1-2, 64-65.

The next month, Ms. Colangelo wrote a letter retracting her allegations and stating that Detective Gill manipulated her into making the accusation. RP (5/26/15) 167-68. She said the same thing in a later interview with defense counsel, and again at trial. RP (5/26/15) 160-61, 169-70. In the letter, interview, and testimony, Ms. Colangelo said she unbuckled her seat belt, grabbed the wheel, and tried to open the door, and that Mr. Alexander pulled her back to prevent her from harming herself or cause an accident. RP (5/26/15) 188-91, 195-98. She said she was injured when her face hit the windshield. RP (5/26/15) 142.

At trial, the State played the recordings of Ms. Weis's and Ms. Kent's 911 calls, over Mr. Alexander's objections that they contained hearsay and were cumulative of live testimony. CP 13, 20-23; RP (5/27/15) 4-5, 97. Also over Mr. Alexander's objections, a police officer and the detective were permitted to testify about their opinions regarding the cause of injury. RP (5/26/15) 16-17, 82.

The court granted Mr. Alexander's motion to instruct the jury on the lawful use of force in defense of self and others, but denied his motion to instruct the jury on the lawful use of force in defense of property. CP 15-17, 55; RP (5/26/15) 206-07; RP (5/27/15) 121-23; RP (5/28/15) 56. The jury found Mr. Alexander guilty of second-degree assault, and he was sentenced to 74 months in prison. CP 400-03.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Alexander's motion to instruct the jury on the lawful use of force in defense of property.
 - a. A defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of the case if *any* evidence supports the theory.

"A criminal defendant is entitled to an instruction on his or her theory of the case if the evidence supports the instruction." *State v. Werner*, 170 Wn.2d 333, 336, 241 P.3d 410 (2010). The quantum of evidence necessary is simply *any* evidence. *State v. Hendrickson*, 81 Wn. App. 397, 401, 914 P.2d 1194 (1996). The defendant need not show sufficient evidence was presented to create a reasonable doubt regarding the defense. *State v. Adams*, 31 Wn. App. 393, 395, 641 P.2d 1207 (1982). Once any evidence supporting the defense is produced, "the defendant has a due process right to have his theory of the case presented under proper instructions even if the judge might deem the evidence inadequate to

support such a view of the case were he [or she] the trier of fact" *Id*. (internal quotation omitted).

b. Mr. Alexander was entitled to have the jury instructed on the lawful use of force in defense of property because Ms. Colangelo testified that she opened the passenger door and grabbed Mr.

Alexander's steering wheel and that harm could have come to his vehicle had he not pulled her back.

Mr. Alexander requested jury instructions on self-defense, defense of others, and defense of property. CP 15-17, 55; RP (5/26/15) 206-07; RP (5/27/15) 121-23. The trial court granted the request as to self-defense and defense of others, but denied the request to instruct the jury on defense of property. (5/27/15) 121-23; RP (5/28/15) 56. This was error.

The use of force toward another person is not unlawful when used by a party "in preventing or attempting to prevent ... a malicious trespass, or other malicious interference with real or personal property lawfully in his or her possession, in case the force is not more than is necessary[.]" RCW 9A.16.020. "In defense of property, there is no requirement to fear injury to oneself." *State v. Bland*, 128 Wn. App. 511, 513, 116 P.3d 428 (2005).

Evidence was presented to support this theory. Kelly Colangelo testified that she was depressed and wanted to die, so while Mr. Alexander was driving the car, she opened the passenger door and grabbed the

steering wheel. RP (5/26/15) 142-43. In response, Mr. Alexander tried to pull her back. RP (5/26/15) 142-43. Ms. Colangelo recognized that if Mr. Alexander had not stopped her, her behavior could have harmed not only Mr. Alexander and other people on the road, but also Mr. Alexander's car. RP (5/26/15) 195.

Evidence was presented that Ms. Colangelo's blood alcohol level was .328, supporting the proposition that she may have been disposed to behave recklessly. RP (5/27/15) 13. Evidence was also presented that Ms. Colangelo had previously attempted suicide, again supporting the theory that she initiated the altercation by opening the door and grabbing the wheel, and that Mr. Alexander had to pull her back to protect both people and property. *See* RP (5/28/15) 21-23 (Rebecca Kent testifies about Ms. Colangelo's other recent suicide attempts).

Ms. Colangelo acknowledged that she had told Detective Gill that Mr. Alexander punched her, but she insisted this was a story she gave in response to the detective's manipulative interrogation tactics. RP (5/26/15) 160-62, 195-98. On the stand, Ms. Colangelo said she and Mr. Alexander were merely "wrestling" and that Mr. Alexander tried to "pull" her back to prevent her from opening the door or grabbing the wheel. RP (5/26/15) 142-43. Thus, the trial court erred in denying the request for the instruction on the basis that "I do not believe that somebody has the right

to beat somebody else to prevent them from grabbing the steering wheel." RP (5/27/15) 122. While the jury was entitled to credit the portion of the evidence the judge credited, it was manifestly for the jury to make that choice. *See Adams*, 31 Wn. App. at 396-97. *See also Bland*, 128 Wn. App. at 516 ("Whether the use of force used in defense of property is greater than is justified by the existing circumstances is a question of fact for the jury to determine under proper instructions.").

c. Mr. Alexander was prejudiced by the failure to give the instruction, and the remedy is reversal of the conviction and remand for a new trial.

"The refusal to give instructions on a party's theory of the case when there is supporting evidence is reversible error when it prejudices a party." *Werner*, 170 Wn.2d at 337. In *Werner*, the Supreme Court held that the trial court abused its discretion in denying a request to instruct the jury on self-defense, because some evidence was presented to support that theory. *Id.* at 337-38. The Court further held that the error required reversal: "Since the outcome turns on which version of events the jury believed, the failure to give a self-defense instruction prejudiced Werner." *Id.* at 338. The same is true here.

In this case, as in *Werner*, the jury heard two versions of events. *See* RP (5/28/15) 74 (prosecutor tells jury, "You have been presented with two different versions of what happened last night."). On the one hand,

Ms. Colangelo testified – consistent with two statements she had given in the fall of 2014 – that she tried to open the door and grab the wheel and Mr. Alexander pulled her back in order to prevent a crash. RP (5/26/15) 141-43, 167-71, 184-98. On the other hand, she made statements in August of 2014 indicating that Mr. Alexander repeatedly hit her because he was annoyed that she was crying. RP (5/26/15) 123, 162, 172-77; RP (5/27/15) 96. As in *Werner*, then, the outcome of the case depended on which version of events the jury believed. Mr. Alexander accordingly asks this Court to reverse his conviction and remand for a new trial. *See Werner*, 170 Wn.2d at 338.¹

¹ To be sure, the jury rejected the defense theories for which the court did provide instructions. But this may be because there was no evidence of the speed at which the car was traveling or the presence of other cars on the road. In the absence of such evidence, the jury may have believed that at worst, the opening of the door and grabbing of the wheel created a risk of property damage. The jury was not instructed on the lawful use of force in such circumstances.

- 2. The trial court abused its discretion in admitting cumulative hearsay statements and improper opinion testimony.
 - a. The 911 calls contained inadmissible hearsay statements and cumulative evidence.
 - i. Mr. Alexander objected to the admission of the 911 calls on the basis that they contained statements that were hearsay and were cumulative of live testimony.

In Mr. Alexander's trial brief, he moved to exclude all out-of-court statements from Ms. Weis, Ms. Kent, and Ms. Colangelo, among others. CP 13. He argued that the statements were hearsay and did not fall within the "excited utterance" exception to the rule against hearsay. CP 20-23. The State, in contrast, moved to admit the recordings of the two 911 calls, which contained statements of Ms. Weis, Ms. Kent, Ms. Colangelo, and 911 operators and first responders. The State argued the statements were admissible as excited utterances or present sense impressions. Supp. CP (sub no. 39) (State's Trial Memorandum) at 17-18.

During the hearing on motions in limine, the State played the recordings of Ms. Weis's and Ms. Kent's 911 calls. RP (5/19/15) 15-17; ex. 51. Apparently believing only an authentication issue was being discussed at that point, Mr. Alexander's counsel said he was "not aware of an objection" he could make in light of the fact that "Ms. Weis and Ms.

Kent would be present to identify themselves." RP (5/19/15) 17. The court accordingly ruled that it would admit the 911 calls. RP 17-18.

At trial, the State played a brief portion of the recording during Ms. Weis's testimony for identification purposes, but did not publish the evidence at that time. RP (5/26/15) 128. The next morning before trial continued, Mr. Alexander's attorney stated, "I would care to renew my objection with regard to 911 calls particularly." RP (5/27/15) 4. The court told him that he had not previously objected, and he said, "May I object then?" At first the judge said "no," but then she asked, "What is the new objection?" RP (5/27/15) 4. Mr. Alexander objected on the basis that the statements were hearsay and that they were cumulative in light of the fact that the witnesses were testifying to the same facts on the stand. RP (5/27/15) 4. The court overruled the objections, stating:

At this point, I'm going to overrule that objection. So far as I know, at least part of this is admissible because the witness has testified. The State just chose not to publish that portion of the 911 call at the time, and that part of the 911 call is in at least. Ms. Kent's portion I'm going to reserve on until we see her body sitting in the chair and testifying, but then that's going to come in, too."

RP (5/27/15) 4-5.

During Ms. Kent's testimony, the State noted it was about to play the recording of the 911 calls. RP (5/27/15) 96-97. Mr. Alexander again objected, saying, "I would object to the production of [exhibit] 51 as it is

cumulative evidence, and the witness is testifying to the contents thereof." RP (5/27/15) 97. The court overruled the objection and the State played the recordings. RP (5/27/15) 97.

ii. <u>The trial court abused its discretion in</u> overruling the objections.

The court abused its discretion in overruling the objections, because the 911 calls contained inadmissible hearsay and were cumulative of the live evidence.

"Hearsay' is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." ER 801 (c). During their respective 911 calls, Ms. Weis and Ms. Kent described what Ms. Colangelo allegedly said about what happened in the car. Ex. 51. The 911 operators also repeated some of those statements to first responders. *Id.* Those declarations were out of court statements offered for their truth, and were accordingly inadmissible hearsay in the absence of an exception. ER 802.

The State claimed the statements fell within the "present sense impression" and "excited utterance" exceptions. But most of the statements did not fall within these exceptions.

The "present sense impression" exception permits the admission of hearsay statements "describing or explaining an event or condition made

while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter." ER 803(a)(1). "The statement must be a spontaneous or instinctive utterance of thought," not based on reflection, memory, or belief. *State v. Martinez*, 105 Wn. App. 775, 783, 20 P.3d 1062 (2001) (internal quotation omitted). "An answer to a question is not a present sense impression." *Id*.

The "excited utterance" exception permits the admission of hearsay statements "relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." ER 803(a)(2). "This exception is based on the idea that under certain external circumstances of physical shock, a stress of nervous excitement may be produced which stills the reflective faculties and removes their control." *State v. Chapin*, 118 Wn.2d 681, 686, 826 P.2d 194 (1992) (internal quotation omitted).

A statement falling within the excited utterance exception must be a spontaneous response to external shock, not one based on reflection. *Id.*For example, a trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting a 911 call under this exception where the victim-caller repeatedly says she's afraid, is emotional, "has a difficult time tracking what the 911 operator is saying," and is "not ... calmly and clinically describing the situation...."

State v. Rodriguez, 187 Wn. App. 922, 940-41, 352 P.3d 200 (2015). And

there was no abuse of discretion in admitting statements in another case where the witness "was excited when she called 911; she sounds frantic, and [the defendant and victim] can be heard fighting in the background." *State v. Jackson*, 113 Wn. App. 762, 770, 54 P.3d 739 (2002).

None of the statements made during Ms. Weis's 911 call fall within these exceptions. Ms. Weis placed the call 10 to15 minutes after the incident. RP (5/26/15) 128. She calmly reported a past event to the operator. Ex. 51, track 1. She was composed and reflective, not stressed or scared, as she responded to questions posed by the dispatcher. *Id.* The 911 operator then calmly repeated the allegations to the fire department representative, whom he had added to the call. *Id.* The fire department representative asked Ms. Weis questions, which she answered slowly and deliberately, trying to remember exactly what happened. *Id.* These statements were all inadmissible hearsay, not spontaneous statements made in response to external shock.

Chapin is instructive. There, a nurse's aide was charged with raping a nursing home patient who had Alzheimer's disease. See Chapin, 118 Wn.2d at 683-85. The day after the alleged rape, the patient was walking with a "painful gait," and his rectal area was "very red and irritated and swollen." *Id.* at 684-85. When the patient saw the defendant walk by his room, the patient shouted obscenities and threw a water

pitcher at him. *Id.* at 684. The defendant walked by again a short while later, and the patient again got angry. *Id.* Later that day, when the patient's wife was visiting him, the defendant walked into the room and the patient "immediately started shouting at him and threatening him." *Id.* The patient's wife tried to calm him down, and he uncharacteristically began crying. His wife asked him why he didn't like the defendant, and he said, "Raped me." *Id.*

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