FILED
Aug 17, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 74015-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BRIAN ALEXANDER,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE CATHERINE SHAFFER

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

KRISTIN A. RELYEA
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	1.	PRO	CEDURAL FACTS1	
	2.	SUBS	STANTIVE FACTS2	
C.	ARGUMENT			
	1.	THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LAWFUL USE OF FORCE IN THE DEFENSE OF PROPERTY7		
	2.	911 (TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE CALLS AND OFFICERS' TESTIMONY UT COLANGELO'S INJURIES12	
		a.	Relevant Facts13	
		b.	Alexander Waived Challenging The Admission Of Weis's 911 Call By Failing To Object	
-		C.	Alexander Waived Challenging The Admission Of Kent's 911 Call As Hearsay 19	
		d.	The Trial Court Properly Denied Alexander's Objection To The Admission Of Kent's 911 Call As Cumulative21	
		e.	Alexander Waived Challenging The Admission Of The Officers' Testimony As An Improper Opinion On Guilt	
		f.	Alternatively, Any Error Was Harmless 23	
D	CON	ICLUSI	ION26	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Table of Cases Washington State: Bellevue Sch. Dist. 405 v. Lee, 70 Wn.2d 947, 425 P.2d 902 (1967)......18 Peasley v. Puget Sound Tug & Barge Co., 13 Wn.2d 485, 125 P.2d 681 (1942).....9 State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).....8 State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 845 P.2d 289, cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944 (1993)......7 State v. Berube, 150 Wn.2d 498, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003)......11 State v. Bland, 128 Wn. App. 511, 116 P.3d 428 (2005).....8 State v. Boast, 87 Wn.2d 447, 553 P.2d 1322 (1976)......19 State v. Castellanos, 132 Wn.2d 94, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997).....21 State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)......19 State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 358 P.3d 359 (2015)......7 State v. Poole, 42 Wash. 192, 84 P. 727 (1906)......19

State v. Thang, 145 Wh.2d 630, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002)8, 22			
<u>State v. Tharp</u> , 96 Wn.2d 591, 637 P.2d 961 (1981)23			
<u>State v. Walker</u> , 136 Wn.2d 767, 966 P.2d 883 (1998)8			
Statutes			
Washington State:			
RCW 9A.04.110 8, 1			
RCW 9A.08.01010			
RCW 9A.16.020			
Rules and Regulations			
Washington State:			
ER 40321			
ER 80321			
RAP 2.5			

A. <u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Whether the trial court properly refused to instruct the jury on defense of property where there was no evidence of malice.
- Whether the trial court properly admitted a witness's
 911 call when Alexander agreed to its admission, and then later objected.
- 3. Whether the trial court properly exercised its discretion to admit another witness's 911 call over Alexander's objection that it was cumulative of live testimony.
- 4. Whether Alexander waived challenging the admission of officers' testimony as an improper opinion on guilt by failing to raise that specific objection at trial.
- 5. Alternatively, whether any error in admitting the 911 calls and officers' testimony was harmless.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. PROCEDURAL FACTS

The State charged Brian Frank Alexander with assault in the second degree with the domestic violence allegation. CP 64-65.

A jury convicted Alexander as charged. CP 68-69; 10RP 2.¹ The court imposed a standard-range sentence. CP 400-08; 11RP 50-51.

2. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

On August 11, 2014, around 10 p.m., Kelly Colangelo was stumbling alone through Magnuson Park while bleeding from her head. 5RP 121-22. Annette Weis saw Colangelo, a stranger, fall to the ground and pick herself up multiple times. 5RP 122. Weis asked Colangelo what had happened and she replied that a man had beaten her and dropped her off. 5RP 122-23. Colangelo had a huge, bloody gash above her left eye, and was "streaked in blood." 5RP 124. Colangelo refused medical aid because she did not want the police to come. 5RP 121. Weis followed Colangelo back to her apartment, and called 911. 5RP 123, 128; Ex. 51, track one.

Shortly thereafter, Colangelo appeared outside her neighbor, Rebecca Kent's, door inebriated and bleeding. 6RP 94. Kent and Colangelo had been close friends until Colangelo had recently

 $^{^1}$ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is designated as follows: 1RP (3/4/15), 2RP (5/19/15), 3RP (5/20/15), 4RP (5/21/15), 5RP (5/26/15), 6RP (5/27/15 transcribed by Michelle Vitrano), 7RP (5/27/15 transcribed by Cheryl J. Hammer), 8RP (5/28/15), 9RP (6/1/15 transcribed by Janet R. Hoffman), 10RP (6/1/15 transcribed by Michael P. Townsend), and 11RP (8/28/15).

relapsed and resumed drinking. 8RP 10, 19. Kent noticed that Colangelo's eye was "bleeding badly," and that she had finger and hand marks on her neck, bruises on her arms and legs, and a bloody ear where it appeared that her earring had been torn out.² 6RP 94-95; 8RP 7. Colangelo told Kent that her boyfriend, Alexander, had grabbed her by the neck and banged her face against his dashboard and then threw her out of his moving vehicle. 6RP 91; 8RP 7. Kent called 911 to report what had happened. 6RP 96; Ex. 51, track two.

Seattle police responded to Kent's apartment and found Colangelo crying with a needle and thread dangling from the gash above her eye that she had been trying to stitch shut. 5RP 9, 44. Although Colangelo did not want to talk with the police about what had happened, she eventually told them that her boyfriend had "accidentally punched" her in the face. 5RP 12, 45. Colangelo refused to tell the officers her boyfriend's name. 5RP 30.

Medics bandaged Colangelo's eye and transported her to

Harborview hospital for further treatment and evaluation. 6RP 33.

At the hospital, Colangelo told medical providers that she had been

² On prior occasions, Colangelo had returned from spending time with Alexander with marks on her neck, bruises on her body, and body aches. 6RP 93-94; 8RP 7-8.

assaulted and thrown from a moving vehicle. 6RP 13, 54. The emergency room treating physician noted that Colangelo had a two-centimeter laceration above her left eye, bruising around her right eye, and bruising on the front of her neck. 6RP 55-56.

A couple of days after the incident, Seattle Police Detective Daljit Gill met with Colangelo and took photographs of her injuries. 5RP 68-69; Ex. 52-67. Colangelo had two black eyes, stitches under her left eye brow, bruising on her neck and jaw line, and bruises on her left arm and leg. Ex. 52-67.

Colangelo told Gill that she had spent the day of the incident with Alexander, and that she had been depressed about the death of her 15-year-old son. 6RP 132-33, 175. Alexander was driving Colangelo home when things escalated and Alexander started verbally abusing Colangelo and calling her a "boo-hoo f—king cry baby." 5RP 175-76. Alexander started punching Colangelo in the face and jaw, and pulling her hair. 5RP 162, 176. Colangelo tried to open the car door and jump out on the freeway because she would have rather been hit by a car, than continue to be hurt and betrayed by someone that she loved as much as Alexander. 5RP 176. Alexander hit Colangelo with closed fists, ripped off her necklace, and squeezed and grabbed her neck. 5RP 176-77.

Colangelo felt blood pouring down her face and tried unsuccessfully to grab the steering wheel from Alexander. 5RP 173, 177.

Alexander dropped Colangelo off a few blocks away from her apartment covered in blood. 5RP 143, 145, 162.

At trial, Colangelo offered a different version of events.

Colangelo testified that Alexander did not directly hit her, and that she told Gill a "big elaborate story" to avoid getting in trouble. 5RP 163, 178. Colangelo explained that on the night of the incident, Alexander called her a "cry baby," and lacked compassion for her loss. 5RP 138. During the drive home, she became upset and emotional, and wanted to jump out of the car. 5RP 141-42. She unfastened her seatbelt, and started "wrestling" with Alexander. 5RP 142.

Colangelo opened the car door and Alexander tried to pull her back inside. 5RP 142. Colangelo grabbed the steering wheel, sending the car into the curb, and causing her to hit her eyes and head on the windshield. 5RP 142. At some point, Colangelo's necklace was ripped off leaving a "necklace mark." 5RP 142, 150. Colangelo admitted that she loved Alexander and that she did not want him to be in trouble. 5RP 183. Alexander did not testify at trial.

Alexander pursued a lawful use of force defense at trial. He proposed that the court instruct the jury on self-defense, defense of others, and defense of property. CP 55. The court agreed to instruct the jury on lawful use of force to defend one's self and others, but refused to instruct the jury on malicious interference with personal property. 6RP 121; CP 88. The court stated, "I do not believe that somebody has the right to beat somebody else to prevent them from grabbing the steering wheel," and suggested that it might be different if Alexander had found Colangelo "bashing the car with a hammer." 6RP 122.

Nonetheless, Alexander repeatedly argued in closing that he acted justifiably in defense of his car. 8RP 88, 93, 99. The jury convicted Alexander as charged, rejecting his self-defense and defense of others claims. CP 68-69; 10RP 2. Post-verdict, Alexander sought a new trial, arguing that the trial court had erred by refusing to instruct the jury on defense of property. CP 100-363; 11RP 4. The court denied Alexander's motion, reasoning that it was illogical that Alexander's use of force was lawful to protect his car, but unlawful to protect himself or others. 11RP 7-10. The court also noted that there was no evidence that Colangelo acted maliciously. 11RP 9.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON THE LAWFUL USE OF FORCE IN THE DEFENSE OF PROPERTY.

Alexander argues that the jury should have been instructed that a person may use reasonable force to prevent malicious interference with personal property. Alexander's claim fails because there was no evidence presented at trial that Colangelo acted maliciously. Nonetheless, even if the trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on defense of property, the error was harmless.

A trial court must instruct the jury on each party's theory of the case provided that the law and the evidence support it. State v. Benn, 120 Wn.2d 631, 654, 845 P.2d 289, cert. denied, 510 U.S. 944 (1993). A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction on an affirmative defense if it is supported by substantial evidence in the record. State v. O'Dell, 183 Wn.2d 680, 687, 358 P.3d 359 (2015). When evaluating whether evidence is sufficient to support giving a jury instruction, the trial court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the defendant. Id. at 687-88.

The standard of review applied to a trial court's refusal to give a proposed defense instruction depends on whether the

refusal was based on law or fact. State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771, 966 P.2d 883 (1998). A trial court's refusal to give a jury instruction based on a factual dispute is reviewed for an abuse of discretion, while a trial court's refusal based on a legal ruling is reviewed de novo. Id. at 771-72. A court abuses its discretion only when its decision is "manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). In other words, the reviewing court considers whether "any reasonable judge would rule as the trial judge did." State v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002).

A defendant is entitled to use reasonably necessary force to defend lawfully possessed property from malicious interference.

RCW 9A.16.020(3). By statute, malice is defined as "an evil intent, wish, or design to vex, annoy, or injure another person." RCW 9A.04.110(12). It may be inferred from acting in willful disregard of the rights of another, acting wrongfully without just cause or excuse, or by acting or failing to act in a way that betrays a willful disregard of social duty. Id. To claim defense of property, a defendant need not fear injury to himself. State v. Bland, 128 Wn. App. 511, 513, 116 P.3d 428 (2005). The question of whether the

defendant's force was greater than necessary is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury. Peasley v. Puget Sound Tug & Barge Co., 13 Wn.2d 485, 506, 125 P.2d 681 (1942).

Given Alexander's choice not to testify, the only evidence that supported Alexander's proposed defense of property was Colangelo's testimony that in the process of trying to break free from Alexander's grasp and jump out of his car, she grabbed his steering wheel. 5RP 142. Colangelo testified that immediately prior to grabbing the steering wheel, she was "crying [her] eyes out" because Alexander had called her a "cry baby" and had no compassion for her. 5RP 138, 141. She became "panicked and claustrophobic" and "had to get the f—k out" of Alexander's car. 5RP 142.

Consequently, she unfastened her seatbelt and was going to jump out of the car when she and Alexander started "wrestling." 5RP 142. Colangelo opened the car door and Alexander tried to pull her back inside. 5RP 142. In the process, Colangelo grabbed the steering wheel, sending the car into the curb, and causing her to hit the windshield. 5RP 142. When asked if she wanted to kill Alexander, Colangelo responded, "No. No. I just wanted him to let me go." 5RP 143.

Based on this testimony, the trial court reasonably chose not to instruct the jury on defense of property. At trial and on appeal, Alexander has failed to identify any evidence that Colangelo acted maliciously. Alexander does not acknowledge the definition of malice, let alone argue that Colangelo possessed an "evil intent, wish, or design to vex, annoy, or injure" him. RCW 9A.04.110(12). Rather, Alexander suggests that Colangelo "may have been disposed to behave recklessly," which is a far cry from acting maliciously. Br. of Appellant at 8; RCW 9A.08.010(1)(c) (defining recklessness as knowing of and disregarding a substantial risk that a wrongful act may occur where that disregard is a gross deviation from conduct that a reasonable person would exercise in the same situation).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to
Alexander, it is clear that Colangelo was grieving the loss of her
son, that Alexander was unsympathetic, and that she wanted away
from him so badly that she was willing to jump out of a moving car.
There is no evidence that Colangelo harbored an evil intent, wish,
or design to injure Alexander. Rather, Colangelo grabbed the
steering wheel because she was heartbroken and desperate to get
away from Alexander. Given this record, Alexander cannot show

that the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to instruct the jury on the lawful defense of property.

Alternatively, if the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on the affirmative defense, then any error was harmless. An instructional error is harmless "if the record supports a finding that the jury verdict would be the same absent the error." State v.

Berube, 150 Wn.2d 498, 506, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003). From the outset, it bears noting that Alexander repeatedly argued in closing that he was defending his property, despite the court's ruling precluding such an argument. See 8RP 88 (Alexander "was defending his vehicle"), 93 (Alexander was "faced with a problem of defending that vehicle"), and 99 (suggesting Colangelo was trying to "kill" Alexander and "wreck [his] car").

Nonetheless, there is no question that the jury would have convicted Alexander even if it had been instructed on the affirmative defense of property. It is undisputed that the jury was essentially presented with two versions of events. Alexander either intentionally and unjustifiably assaulted Colangelo, as she told witnesses and law enforcement immediately after the incident, or Colangelo caused her own injuries by grabbing the steering wheel and hitting the windshield, as she later suggested in her recant

letter and testimony. The jury roundly rejected the latter theory and convicted Alexander of intentional assault. Alexander was not prejudiced by the trial court's alleged failure to instruct the jury on defense of property because the jury did not believe his theory of events. Any error was harmless.

2. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED THE 911 CALLS AND OFFICERS' TESTIMONY ABOUT COLANGELO'S INJURIES.

Alexander argues that his conviction should be reversed based on the trial court's alleged erroneous admission of Weis's and Kent's 911 calls, and two officers' testimony suggesting that Colangelo's injuries were inconsistent with a car accident.

Alexander is mistaken. He waived his right to challenge the admission of Weis's 911 call and the officers' testimony by either failing to object, or failing to object on the grounds that he now raises on appeal. Even if Alexander's claim is not waived, he cannot show that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting the challenged evidence. Further, any error was harmless because the outcome of the trial would not have been materially affected had the alleged errors not occurred.

a. Relevant Facts.

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